
Approved Minutes
Spanish Fork City Council Meeting

September 6, 2005

The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by Mayor Dale R. Barney.  The pledge of
allegiance was led by Curtis Holt.

Elected Officials Present: Mayor Dale R. Barney, and Councilmembers  Matthew D. Barber,
Paul M. Christensen, Everett Kelepolo, Seth V. Sorensen and Chris C. Wadsworth.

Staff Members Present: David A. Oyler, City Manager; S. Junior Baker, City Attorney; Emil
Pierson, Planning Director; Richard J. Heap, Engineering/Public Works Director; Kent R. Clark,
Finance Director/Recorder; Seth J. Perrins, Assistant City Manager; Dale Robinson, Parks and
Recreation Director; Dee Rosenbaum, Public Safety Director; Pam Jackson, Library Director;
Connie Swain, Deputy Recorder.

Citizens: Pat Parkinson, Royden Hill, Grace Conlon, Brandon Bennett, Brent Wesson, Lauri
Buhler, Nathan Buhler, Kevin Creer, Taylor Thorpe, Aubrey Houck, Ida Kay Slaymaker, David
Pollei, Christopher Holt, Curtis Holt, Sherman Huff, Treaci Tagg, Tyson Edwards, Bryce
Westimel, Ralph Maccio, Brady Christensen, Andy Bradford, Jesse Robinson, Lucas Vargas,
Carsyn Merchant, Colton Pearce, Dustin Lee and Chris Sanborn.

Mayor Barney recognized those impacted by the recent hurricane in the southeast area of our
country.  He urged members of the City Council and citizens to donate to the charitable cause of
their choice to help the victims of this tragedy.

Minutes

Councilmember Sorensen made a motion to approve the August 2, 2005 minutes of City Council
meeting as presented.  Councilmember Christensen seconded, and the motion passed with a
unanimous vote.

Councilmember Kelepolo made a motion to approve the August 16, 2005 minutes of City
Council meeting as presented.  Councilmember Sorensen seconded, and the motion passed with
a unanimous vote.

6:05 p.m. Councilmember Barber arrived

Employee of the Second Quarter 2005

Mayor Barney recognized Randy Haymore as Employee of the Quarter who was selected as
employee of the quarter for his good work.  Mayor Barney presented Mr. Haymore with a
certificate and gift.  A round of applause was given.

6:10 p.m.- Councilmember Wadsworth arrived



Agenda Request - Farmer’s Market - Pat Parkinson

Mrs. Parkinson said she decided to make granola bars and bread to sell at the Farmer’s Market
held at the City Office parking lot on Saturday mornings.  She talked with several individuals at
the City Office and was told the market was for produce only and honey.  It was determined
since her items where homemade that she could participate in providing those goods at the
market.  She made and sold bread for two weeks.  A commercial baker began selling bread and
other items at the market.  She again contacted the city and was told many different regulations
for the Farmer’s Market.  Mr. Perrins faxed her a copy of the rules from the Farm Bureau which
allows for bakery items prepared only in a commercial kitchen.  The commercial baker continues
to participate in the Farmer’s Market.  She said she is not complaining about that.  She contacted
a member of the Farm Bureau and was told the Farmer’s Markets throughout the State are not
centrally managed and each market has its own set of rules.  Each city and county has rules.  She
said the City Council can make up whatever rules they desire.  There are many people who
participate in the Farmer’s Market.  The commercial bakery brings a lot of citizens downtown on
Saturdays.  A couple of weeks ago there was an article in the newspaper concerning the Provo
Farmer’s Market.  They sell all types of items including crafts and homemade items.  A
commercial kitchen is required if homemade food items are to be sold.  She asked the City
Council to define the regulations and allow all types of vendors to participate in the Spanish Fork
Farmer’s Market.  

Mayor Barney said he talked with Kyle Stevens of the State Agricultural Department concerning
the Farmer’s Market Guidelines.  We do not set the rules.  A commercial kitchen is required for
food items to be sold at the Farmer’s Market.  

Mrs. Parkinson said she is aware of that regulation.  She feels the vendors could be expanded.

Mayor Barney said a committee could be created, headed by Mrs. Parkinson, to determine what
other cities provide at their Farmer’s Markets and how they are managed.

Mrs. Parkinson said Salt Lake City has a more diverse market which brings many individuals to
shop in the area. 

Mayor Barney said the State Agricultural Department sets the rules.

Mrs. Parkinson disagreed and said the city sets the guidelines. 

Mr. Perrins said Mrs. Parkinson is asking the City Council to expand the vendors allowed.  He
said due to the administration requirements it has been determined to allow only agricultural
items and food items in accordance with State guidelines.   He reviewed the State guidelines.

Mrs. Parkinson asked what administration time is needed.

Mr. Perrins said overseeing those other types of vendors would require administration hours.

Councilmember Kelepolo asked if we allow bread from a commercial bakery.



Mr. Perrins concurred.

Mrs. Parkinson said we again published “produce only” to be sold at our Farmer’s Market.  She
again asked the City Council to expand the allowed vendors.

Councilmember Christensen said bread is related to agricultural items.  He said crafts are not
related and he does not want a craft circus at our Farmer’s Market.

Mrs. Parkinson asked the city to publish the rules they intend to enforce.  The city clearly does
not know what our rules are.

Councilmember Barber said he was not aware there were any rules.

Councilmember Sorensen concurred.

Mayor Barney said this is something for the City Council to consider.

Councilmember Kelepolo said he is aware this a big issue for Mrs. Parkinson.  The City Council
will consider the request and make sure we do what is best for the community.  He said the
parameters for the market need to be determined.  He asked Mrs. Parkinson what Farmer’s
Markets she has visited.

Mrs. Parkinson said she has been to the Provo Farmer’s Market.

Councilmember Kelepolo asked Mr. Perrins to investigate other Farmer’s Markets and provide
the information to the City Council. 

Councilmember Wadsworth said the Farmer’s Market helps with our tax base.

Mr. Pierson said it adds to the tax base only if we license the vendors.

Rigtrup Annexation Petition - 630 West 5950 South

Mr. Pierson said this a request by Carolyn Rigtrup to annex approximately 23.5 acres located at
630 West 5950 South into the city.  The parcel is within Spanish Fork City’s policy declaration
boundary but outside of the current growth boundary.  The proposed zoning is Rural Residential
(R-R).  This petition is before the City Council to determine if further investigation is desired 

Councilmember Barber asked for the difference between an annexation agreement and this
petition.

Mr. Pierson said an annexation agreement is prepared and entered into when the City Council
sets conditions upon the approval of the annexation.  It is usually based on recommendations
from the Development Review Committee or the Planning Commission.

Councilmember Sorensen asked Mr. Pierson if the petition has any adverse effects on the city.



Mr. Pierson said he can think of no adverse effects.

Councilmember Kelepolo said the purpose of the additional investigate is to see if the annexation
fits within the city’s future plans for the area.  He also asked if the petitioner is aware that the
annexation may be denied after further investigation.

Mr. Pierson said the petitioner is aware that the petition may be approved or denied following
further investigation.

Councilmember Barber asked if there is any possibility of vesting the property if the petition is
approved for further investigation.

Mr. Pierson said no.

Councilmember Kelepolo asked if Mr. Pierson knows of any negative impact or concerns the
annexation would create.

Mr. Pierson said location of utilities might be a concern.  Also, the parcel would be zones R-R
and he asked if additional agricultural properties would be beneficial to the city.  He said the
parcel could possibly become zoned as industrial which would surround a residential area with
industrial properties.

Councilmember Kelepolo made a motion to approve the Rigtrup Annexation Petition for further
study.  Councilmember Sorensen seconded, and the motion passed with a unanimous vote. 
Following a roll call vote the unanimous vote was confirmed.

Senior Center Property - Ratification of Contract 

Mr. Baker said there are two contracts he is asking the City Council to ratify.  The contracts
came about as a result of property acquisition discussions during a previous executive session. 
The city purchased two properties near the Senior Center to allow for additional parking.  The
two properties purchased were the Deuel and Thomas’ properties.  As per the negotiations,
Thomas’ property was then purchased by Mr. Deuel. 

Councilmember Wadsworth asked for the estimate of additional parking spaces.

Mr. Baker said he recalls the property allowing for 27 additional parking spaces at the Senior
Center.

Councilmember Kelepolo said the intent was to create additional parking at the Senior Center.

Mr. Baker said the additional parking space will help but not resolve the traffic problem during
the senior lunches.

Councilmember Kelepolo asked if parking can be monitored during the luncheons.



Councilmember Christensen said the Senior Center Board meets tomorrow and he will ask if
monitoring the parking lot is possible.  He asked Mr. Baker if the Deuels were given a time limit
for moving. 

Mr. Baker said the Deuels were given two weeks to move.

Councilmember Kelepolo made a motion to ratify both Senior Center Property Contracts as
presented.  Councilmember Christensen seconded, and the motion passed with a unanimous
vote.  Following a roll call vote the unanimous vote was confirmed.

Ordinance 10-05 - An Ordinance Repealing and Re-Enacting Title 8, Chapter 20
Concerning Abatement of Weeds, Garbage and Refuse

Mr. Baker said Officer Mark Byers is proposing changes to the city’s ordinance dealing with the
abatement of weeds, garbage and refuse.  Mr. Baker reviewed those redline changes proposed to
the ordinance.

Councilmember Wadsworth said the ordinance indicates that notices can be given to both the
owner and occupant.

Mr. Baker said the current notices have been very effective.  When the recipient does not
respond, the city clears the property.  The city only clears two to eight properties each year.  The
city feels obligated to protect the adjacent property values.

Councilmember Barber said four inches indicated as a maximum height for weeds maybe
restrictive.  He asked Mr. Heap his opinion.

Mr. Heap said he is not familiar with this ordinance.

Mr. Baker said four inches would apply to grass more than weeds.

Councilmember Sorensen said the next page refers to clearing areas to prevent the breeding of
rodents.

Councilmember Kelepolo said he can see the concern from Councilmember Barber’s standpoint. 
There are some weed fields in agricultural areas.

Councilmember Baker said the wording is brought from the State Code.

Mr. Pierson said today the maximum height is six inches.

Councilmember Kelepolo asked how we make sure we set the appropriate limits.

Mr. Baker said the ordinance enforcement allows for some discretion.  He cannot think of any
abatement issues in which the height had to be measured.  The problem is usually very obvious.



Councilmember Christensen said there must be some reason why Officer Byers wants to reduce
the limit to four inches.

Mr. Baker said there is no height limit in the current ordinance.

Councilmember Barber asked why not leave it to the enforcement officer’s discretion.  He said
he cannot see when four inches in height would be a nuisance but perhaps it is.

Councilmember Kelepolo concurred.

Mr. Baker said a height limit can be set or left to the discretion of the weed abatement officer.

Councilmember Sorensen said setting a limit gives citizens a gauge to follow.

Councilmember Wadsworth asked Councilmember Barber if he recommended an increase in the
height limit.

Councilmember Kelepolo said he is fine with the four-inch limit if we are willing to enforce it.

Councilmember Christensen said Officer Byers has recommended it and must be willing to
enforce it. 

Mr. Heap said oftentimes lawns and agricultural areas are left longer during hot months. 
Sometimes agricultural areas are adjacent to residential areas.

Councilmember Kelepolo said the ordinance could be tabled to allow additional investigation.

Councilmember Kelepolo made a motion to table Ordinance 10-05 to allow time for the affected
departments to investigate the issue and make recommendations to the City Council. 
Councilmember Wadsworth seconded, and the motion passed with a unanimous vote.

Ordinance 11-05 - An Ordinance Amending the Business License with Respect to Alcohol
Sales

Mr. Baker said this is an ordinance which will bring our city more in line with the rest of the
County.  We have an ordinance which regulates alcohol sales.  Various violations and penalties
have been set.  Our current ordinance states that the business’s alcohol license will automatically
be revoked for six months if they violate the ordinance.  The amended ordinance states the
license is revoked for up to six months.

Councilmember Wadsworth asked what is changed from the existing ordinance.  

Mr. Baker reviewed the major changes in paragraph three and the information in the preamble to
the ordinance.

Mayor Barney said the penalty should be rigid enough that businesses are responsible for alcohol
sales.



Councilmember Kelepolo said he wants the penalty to be restrictive enough to insure businesses
are in compliance.

Mr. Baker said the ordinance states if the business incurs three violations, then the hearing
officer can determine the length of the revocation of the alcohol license before the business can
reapply.

Councilmember Sorensen made a motion to approve Ordinance 11-05, an Ordinance Amending
the Business License with Respect to Alcohol Sales.  Councilmember Kelepolo seconded, and
the motion passed with a unanimous vote.

Councilmember Wadsworth asked if the penalty is severe enough for items four and five.

Mr. Baker said no change has been made to the existing ordinance regarding the penalty referred
to by Councilmember Wadsworth.  He said he feels the penalty in this area is too light.

Following a roll call vote the unanimous vote was confirmed.

Ordinance 12-05 - An Ordinance Amending Billboard Regulations

Mr. Baker said this issue took us by surprise.  Our current ordinance regulating billboards allows
for billboards in areas referenced by highway mile markers.  The Utah Department of
Transportation (UDOT) changed the mile markers along Highway 6 without notifying the city. 
With this change in the mile markers some confusion was created in the ordinance.  The
amended ordinance clarifies the locations based on the existing mile markers indicating the areas
that billboards are allowed.

Mayor Barney asked how the amended ordinance affects the existing billboards.

Mr. Baker said the existing billboards are in compliance.

Councilmember Kelepolo made a motion to accept Ordinance 12-05, An Ordinance Amending
Billboard Regulations.  Councilmember Christensen seconded, and the motion passed with a
unanimous vote.

Trails and Transportation

Mr. Heap presented the following update concerning trails and transportation.

• Street Classifications
Local streets - have access to property - 34 feet of asphalt
Minor collectors and major collectors - move traffic - 40 to 50 feet of asphalt
Arterial streets - have limited accesses
Freeways

• Street Master Plan 
General layout of collector and arterial streets



Provide for an efficient transportation system in the city and the region
Includes plans for all classified roads

• Traffic Calming Methods - used mainly on local streets 
Speed humps
Narrower cross-sections
Non-continuous streets

Councilmember Kelepolo asked if there are liability concerns associated with speed humps.

Mr. Heap said speed humps may create problems in some areas and are reviewed extensively
before utilized this method to slow traffic.

Councilmember Wadsworth said he recalls a previous discussion discouraging speed humps due
to the problems associated with snow removal equipment.

Mr. Heap said the speeds humps can be designed around the snow removal equipment to some
degree but many times more problems are created with speed humps than are resolved.  Mr.
Heap continued his presentation.

• Stop signs, yield signs and signals - require traffic studies, accident histories and must
meet warrants.

• Children at Play Signs - URMMA recommends none - it gives parents a false sense of
security and are only noticed when first installed

• Upcoming Projects
West Park Drive - bridge is complete
2550 East/US Highway 6 Signal - property has been purchased - extensive

changes to the railroad crossing is needed unless a road closing to the north is initiated -
access road along US Highway 6 will be closed 

Canyon Road/US Highway 6 Signal
3400 East /US Highway 6 Signal

Mayor Barney and Councilmember Christensen said there should be signs warning drivers of
upcoming lights.

Councilmember Wadsworth asked concerning a light at Delmonte and Arrowhead Trail.

Mr. Heap said UDOT has investigated this intersection and it does not warrant a light at this
time.  Mr. Heap continued his presentation.

• Sidewalk maintenance project
Trip hazard removal
Sidewalk replacement
ADA compliance
Tree problems



• Sidewalk replacement problems - constant changes in sidewalks - large amount of funds 
needed to complete the sidewalk maintenance -  B and C funds are inadequate to meet the
ADA requirements with existing sidewalks

• Trial Master Plan - a large portion is constructed near the sports park 
Pedestrian bridge is complete near Fieldstone Development
Trail along Arrowhead Trail as part of the Quail Hollow Development is
complete 
Grant funds are also being acquired.

Mr. Pierson said other trail systems in other cities have been reviewed extensively in developing
our Trail Master Plan.  Developers are also in favor of the trail system.

• Foot Bridge from the Sports Park to Quail Hollow soon to be installed
• River trial west of Main Street
• West Park Drive trail
• Dripping rock trial
• Provides places for citizens to safely walk and ride bikes

Mr. Pierson reviewed new developments including trails.  The trail planning process included
NRSC and a grant through Senator Bennett’s Office helped to build the river trail systems.  All
parties are working closely to preserve the riverbottoms area, to meet property owners’ interests,
and create a plan for a river trail system involving many different interests for the area.  In the
future there will be a wonderful trail system along the river which will best meet the plans for the
area based on input from all those involved.

Mayor Barney thanked Mr. Heap and Mr. Pierson for the report.

Approval of Election Judges

Mr. Clark provided a list of proposed election judges.  This list is put together from the judges
used in prior years and also includes the judges list from the County.  He is still finalizing some
of the judges.  He has been unable to talk with all of them but has talked with many of them.

Councilmember Kelepolo asked Mr. Clark if he will provide training again this year for the
judges.

Mr. Clark said the election judge training sessions will be combined with other cities this year. 
There are always additional rules each year to be reviewed with all judges including experienced
judges.  He asked the City Council to approve the list provided for which Mr. Clark is allowed to
call as election judges.  He also asked for additional names if available.  He said if citizens are
interested they may contact him.  Election judges cannot serve in precincts for which a relative is
running for election.

Councilmember Kelepolo asked who is considered a relative.



Mr. Clark said it would apply to close relatives only.  Also, the State law requires us to pay our
election judges no more than what the County pays their election judges.

Councilmember Wadsworth said Alyn Olson has expressed an interest in being an election
judge.

Mr. Clark said he will consider Alyn Olson as a possible election judge.  He said the last sheet
included with the election judge list indicates the polling locations.  The Rees School was used
as a polling location and there were complaints so Mr. Clark moved those voters in that precinct
back to the Middle School.  He made other changes in an attempt to be consistent with the
precinct polling locations of the County.  He notified the County of the changes he made.  The
County determines the precinct boundary locations.  He asked for those who have the internet to
acquiring polling location information online from the city’s web page.

Councilmember Kelepolo made a motion to accept the proposed election judges list as
presented.  Councilmember Sorensen seconded, and the motion passed with a unanimous vote.

Other Business

Councilmember Barber said our city is going to be hosting the reunion for the remaining
survivors of the USS Haggard from World War II.  This will be their 19th reunion and will be
held from September 14 - 16.  They have held their reunion here before and they love returning
to Spanish Fork.

Mayor Barney said Councilmember Kelepolo will represent him since he will be attending his
reunion in Branson, Missouri the same week.

Councilmember Barber asked if changes were made to the minutes since he was not present
when they were approved.

Mayor Barney said if the City Council desires detailed minutes there is software which was
presented by Mr. Clark at a previous Council meeting.  The cost for the software ranges from
$40,000 -$60,000.  Every word said during the meeting is not necessary.

Councilmember Barber concurred.  He brought up line 410 of the August 2, 2005 minutes.  

Councilmember Kelepolo said he has a rough draft of the list and will provide it to the City
Council.

Councilmember Barber said during the August 16, 2005 meeting on line 47 or 48 a question was
asked of Mr. Pierson.  Councilmember Barber said Mr. Pierson’s response was that he knew but
was not at liberty to say.  He thinks the information could be material to the discussion.  

Councilmember Kelepolo said he does not personally recall the discussion.

Councilmember Barber said the information may or may not be material.



Councilmember Kelepolo said the minutes have already been approved unless Councilmember
Barber feels strongly about the comment being added to the minutes.

Councilmember Barber said he will review the meeting and if he finds nothing pertinent then he
will leave the minutes as approved.

Mr. Clark said there is software available which will record and log everything said during the
meetings.  The only required information to be in the minutes are motions, what was in the
motion and who approved or denied the motion.  This is all that is required.  If the City Council
desires every exact word to be entered into the minutes, then the software is required.  It is very
difficult for Mrs. Swain to determine what is pertinent information.  Detailed minutes are time
consuming and the City Council needs to determine how Mrs. Swain can best use her time. 

Mayor Barney said the software would eliminate any question as to what was or was not said.

Mr. Clark said the cost for the software ranges from $20,000 to $40,000. 

Councilmember Kelepolo recalled the consensus of City Council was that the minutes should not
be verbatim.  If any members of the City Council wanted to make changes to the minutes, it
would require approval by the majority of the City Council.  

Mayor Barney said the minutes are to reflect an overview of what was discussed.

Mr. Clark said when reviewing the minutes sometimes it is helpful to have some of the
discussion to see why decisions were made.  The City Council needs to let the recorder know
what is required.

Councilmember Wadsworth said the minutes currently capture the essence of the meeting and he
agreed that verbatim minutes are not necessary.  

Councilmember Barber asked for clarification on the number of camp sites.

Councilmember Kelepolo said there are twelve camp sites.  The minutes indicate there are to be
eight actual camp sites.  Part of the motion also included a parking lot.  The intent was to retain
as many trees as possible.  Also, residents in the area asked that the sites be day sites only. 
Adjustments were made to retain as many trees in the area as possible.

Councilmember Barber asked how it went from eight to twelve sites.

Councilmember Kelepolo said there are eight camp sites and three day/parking sites and one site
used for the port-o-lets.

Councilmember Wadsworth said the actual minutes indicate the City Council approved eight
camp sites.

Councilmember Kelepolo said the day sites were at the request of residents in the area in lieu of
a large parking area.   He said the actual minutes approved only eight camp sites.



Councilmember Barber asked at what point the day sites were added to the project and who
made that decision.

Councilmember Kelepolo said he takes responsibility for the decision.

Mr. Oyler said the parking lot issue was reviewed and he and Chris Thompson determined it
would be best to retain the trees by eliminating a large parking lot area and creating day sites to
also be used for parking.

Councilmember Kelepolo said it is an accountability issue.  He said he was determined to retain
as much of the area as possible.  He does not feel that each little item needs to come before the
City Council for approval.  

Councilmember Wadsworth said he was hoping for a contact from the city staff before decisions
are made.

Mr. Oyler said he contacted the chairman of the Recreation Committee and assumed this would
be adequate.  It was reviewed by staff and the Recreation Committee.

Councilmember Kelepolo asked if the City Council should be involved in every decision.  Do we
want to be involved in every aspect or do we allow those City Councilmembers assigned to
various committees to make decisions based on their assigned responsibilities?  As long as there
is communication going back and forth we should support each other.

Councilmember Barber said the minutes indicate there were to be eight camp sites.  He was not
aware of the parking sites.

Councilmember Sorensen said he was contacted by Mr. Oyler since he had made the motion. 
And he agreed with the parking site option rather than a parking lot area in order to preserve
trees in the area.

Councilmember Kelepolo said he was not aware this was a high priority item.  With the residents
in the area it has become a highly political issue.

Councilmember Wadsworth asked Councilmember Kelepolo if he agreed with the following
principle.  “Keep in mind that the ends don’t justify the means and that the way something is
done is as important as what is done.”

Councilmember Kelepolo said it depends on the context and how it is used.

Councilmember Christensen said he serves on the Arts Council and makes decisions without
involving all of the City Council.  He said during the Fiesta Days celebration he was appalled by
the results of the Fish Rodeo and also disappointed that the craft fair had been cancelled. 
However, he was supportive since those assigned to those committees made those decisions.

Mayor Barney said during the essential services discussion it was stated that more than
$1,000,000 was spent on recreation while $100,000 was spent on public works.  Mayor Barney



said he asked Marlo Smith to research the funds expended for public works.  She provided him
with the amount of $1,339,563 spent on public works.  He said he knew this information was
incorrect when he heard it and wanted to make sure the citizens were provided with the correct
information.

Adjournment to Executive Session 

Councilmember Kelepolo made a motion to adjourn to Executive Session to discuss land issues. 
Councilmember Sorensen seconded, and the motion passed with a unanimous vote.  The
meeting adjourned at 8:08 p.m.

___________________________________
Connie Swain, Deputy Recorder                  

Approved: October 4, 2005


